In the United States Court of Federal Claims

No. 03-2225C
(Filed November 26, 2003)
(Crigind filed October 14, 2003)
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Michad H. Payne, Ft. Washington, PA, for plantiff. Joseph A. Hackenbracht, Sarfied
and Payne, Guilford D. Ware, Crenshaw Ware and Martin, Norfolk, VA, of counsdl.

Domenigue Kirchner, Washington, DC, with whom was Assdant Attorney Genera
Peter D. Keider, for defendant. James W. Siring, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers,
Wilmington, NC, of counsd.

Peter M. Kilaullen Alexandria, VA, for intervenor. Jeffery F. | awrence and Heather
M. Spring, Sher and Blackwell, Washington, DC, of counsdl.

CORRECTED OPINION

MILLER, Judge.

This pre-/post-award bid protest action is before the court after argument on the parties
crossmotions for summary judgment. Plaintiff faults the Government for permitting
intervenor dredging company, an entity owned by a foregn corporation in combination with



a company 50% owned by U.S. citizens, to enlarge an exemption to U.S.-preference legidation
that redtricts dredging in U.S. waters to U.S-built, 75% U.S.-citizen-owned vessds and vessds
chartered by aU.S. citizen or U.S. entities with no less than 75% U.S.-citizen control.

FACTS

The rdevant facts, which are largdy undisputed, derive from the administrative record.
On Augus 8, 2003, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (the “Corps’) issued an Invitation for
Bids on Solictation No. DACW54-03-B-0011 for dredging of Morehead City Harbor,
Beaufort Harbor, and Brandt Idand, North Carolina. Four seded bids were received and
opened on September 16, 2003.

Bean Stuyvesant, LLC (“intervenor”), was the apparent low bidder at $9,570,800.00.
Norfolk Dredging Company, Inc. (“plaintiff”), was the second lowest bidder a $9,577,560.00.
On September 25, 2003, plantiff filed this protes cdaming that intervenor is unqudified to
perform the contract. Due to environmenta redtrictions, the contract may not begin before
November 1, 2003, but must be completed by April 30, 2004. 1/ Timely award of the contract
was crucid because the end of the Government's fiscal year was imminent. Pursuant to an
agreement among the parties, the Corps awarded the contract to intervenor on September 30,
2003, despite the pendency of plaintiff’s protest. 2/ Thus, this protest, while technicaly filed
pre-award, proceeded as a post-award matter.

Fantiff complans tha intervenor is not quaified to peform dredging in  U.S. waters
as prohibited by the Oceans Act of 1992. 46 U.S.C. app. 8§ 292 (2000). The Oceans Act, a

1/ The Corps agreed not to issue a notice to proceed, provided that the court ruled on
plantff's request for a permanent injunction by close of business on October 14, 2003. To
that end, the parties requested an acceerated briefing schedule.  The complaint was filed on
September 25, 2003, followed on September 26 by a preliminary conference to schedule a
hearing on plantiff’s gpplication for a temporary restraining order. Intervenor came into the
proceedings on September 29. At a scheduling conference held on September 30, the parties
agreed to submit amultaneous opening briefs on October 3, with the second round on October
8 and 9. The parties requested a decison by October 14, which was dso the first date on which
counsd for dl parties could participate in ora agument. The court has endeavored to
accommodate the parties’ needs.

2/ The parties entered into an agreement whereby the Government awarded the contract
to intervenor notwithstanding this litigation.  If this court rules for the Government, the Corps
will issue to intervenor a notice to proceed with pefformance. If this court enters an
injunction, the Government and intervenor have agreed that the contract will be terminated for
the convenience of the Government and that no costs will be assessed.
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comprenensve Act tha indudes provisons precluding foreign dtizens from engaging in
dredging, was the most recent of laws datiing from 1906 that implemented a policy of
redtricting foreign operations in coastwise trade, vessds plying between U.S. ports. Congress
has restricted coastal trade to vessds that are built and documented 3/ in the United States, 46
U.S.C. app. 8 883 (passed in 1920), and at least 75% U.S.-citizen owned, 46 U.S.C. app. § 802
(passed in 1916). Dredging, specificaly, has been limited by the Foreign Dredge Act of 1906,
46 U.S.C. gpp. 8 292, which bars foreign-built dredges from operating in U.S. waters.

To complete the subject contract, intervenor submitted that it will use the dredge
MERIDIAN. The MERIDIAN is a U.S-built, U.S.-documented non-hopper 4/ dredge, owned
by Bean Meridian, LLC. Non-hopper dredges, which are smaller and more numerous than
hoppers, fadlitate the bulk of coastwise dredging projects. Plaintiff does not clam that the
use of the dredge MERIDIAN is a violaion of the gpplicable statute. Rather, plaintiff contends
that intervenor, a Delaware limited liability corporation, cannot charter MERIDIAN under
goplicable law. Stuyvesant Dredging Company, Inc., a foreign corporation, and Bean Dredging,
LLC, a U.S. etity, each own 50% of intervenor. Stuyvesant Dredging Company, in turn, is
owned by Roya Boskdis Westmingter, NV, a Dutch conglomerate.

While intervenor is 50% foreign owned, 46 U.S.C. app. 8§ 292 contains an exception that
includes Stuyvesant Dredging Company and any entity in which it has an interest. At issue is
whether intervenor legdly may charter a U.S-built and -documented non-hopper dredge under
the exception to 46 U.S.C. app. 8 292 of the Oceans Act of 1992, found at section 5501(a)(2)
of Pub. L. No. 102-587. This exception applies to the vesse STUYVESANT, which, in 1982
began a 40-year chater to Suyvesant Dredging Company; chartering activities involving
hopper and non-hopper vessels of Stuyvesant Dredging Company itsdf and entities in which
the company has an interest; and other dredging vessels described by their ownership or
activities. The focusis on the provison governing non-hopper vessdls.

DISCUSSION

1. Juridiction and standard of review

3/ Documented vessels are nationally registered with the U.S. Coast Guard, as opposed
to a locd or foregn state. Most commercid vessels must be documented, and to qudify the
vessed must be whally owned by a U.S. dtizen or U.S. entity with at least 75% U.S. ownership.
See generaly 46 U.S.C. app. § 12101 (2000); 46 C.F.R. § 67 (2002).

4/ A hopper dredge is a self-propelled ocean-going vessdl that pumps dredge materia
from the channd floor and stores that materid in containers (hoppers) on board the vessel.
Non-hopper vessds do not have the ability to store removed material on board; rather, it must
be piped to a separate vessel or location.



Jurigdiction in the Court of Federa Clams is prescribed by the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C.
§ 1491(b)(1) (2000), which dlows a protestor to chdlenge “the award of a contract or any
dleged violdion of datute or regulaion in connection with a procurement or a proposed
procurement.” The court evaluates the procuring agency’s conduct to determine whether the
Government’s decison was “abitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in
accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A); see Info. Tech. & Applications Corp. v. United
States, 316 F.3d 1312, 1319 (Fed. Cir. 2003) (goplying “arbitrary and capricious’ standard of
section 706 under 28 U.S.C. § 1491(b) in post-award bid protest action where Federal Circuit
decided “whether the Air Force's procurement decison was ‘arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.”” ). If a protestor satisfies its burden in
proving the requidite violation, the court may award equitable relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1491(b)(2).

Provisons of the Federal Acqguistion Regulation (*FAR’), as incorporated into the
solictation, require that “contracts shdl be awarded to[] responsble prospective contractors
only,” and to be determined responsible, a contractor must, inter alia, “[b]e otherwise qudified
and digble to receive an award under goplicable laws and reguldions.” 48 C.F.R. (FAR) 8§
9.103 - 9.104-1 (2002). Plaintiff argues that, because intervenor does not qualify for the
exception to the 1992 amendment, it is not a “responsble’ contractor in that it is not
“otherwise digible and qudified,” thereby faling to satisfy 48 C.F.R. § 9.104-1(q).

Pantff contends that the relevant provisons of the Oceans Act prohibit intervenor
from chartering vessels to dredge in waters of the United States. The Oceans Act amended the
Foreign Dredge Act of 1906, which previoudy had alowed foreign entities to charter U.S-
owned dredges and operate in the United States. After the 1992 amendment, the charterer of
the vessel mug be a U.S. dtizen or an entity with at least 75% U.S.-citizen control. 46 U.S.C.
app. 88 292, 802. The Oceans Act included an exception for the vessel STUYVESANT and
Stuyvesant Dredging Company. Plaintiff puts forward that the exception was intended to alow
Stuyvesant  Dredging Company to continue performance of dredging projects utlizng the
hopper dredge STUYVESANT and, if it became disabled, to replace the vessd with other
hopper or non-hopper vessels owned ether soldy by the company or an entity in which it has
an interest.

The exception to 46 U.S.C. app. 8 292, Pub. L. 102-587 § 5501(a)(2) provides, in
pertinent part, asfollows:

“The amendment made by paragraph (1) [amending this section] does not apply
to—

“(A) (i) Thevessel STUYVESANT .. ..

“(i) any other hopper dredging vessel documented under chapter
121 of title 46, United States Code before the effective date of this Act
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[Nov. 4, 1992] and chartered to Stuyvesant Dredging Company or to an
entity in which it has an ownership interest; however, this exception
expires on December 3, 2022 or when the vessel STUYVESANT ceases
to be documented under chapter 121, whichever first occurs; and

“@)) any other non-hopper dredging vessel documented under
chapter 121 and chartered to Stuyvesant Dredging Company or to an
entity in which it has an ownership interest, as is necessary (a) to fulfill
dredging obligaions under a specific contract, induding any extenson
periods; or (b) as temporary replacement capacity for a vessel which has
become disabled but only for so long as the disability shdl last and until
the vessd is in a podgtion to fuly resume dredging operations, however,
this exception expires on December 8, 2022 or when the vessel
STUYVESANT ceases to be documented under chapter 121, whichever
first oceurs; . . .

Pantff charges that the Government, through the Bureau of Cugtoms and Border
Protection, improperly interpreted the exception to dlow Suyvesant Dredging Company
and/or intervenor to expand its business into segments of the dredging industry in which it did
not operate before the restriction was enacted.

Defendant counters that intervenor is qudified to perform the contract by chartering
the non-hopper vessd MERIDIAN. The applicable section (A)(iii) exception to 46 U.S.C. app.
8§ 292 (a) of the Oceans Act, according to defendant, has four requirements. 1) the vessd must
be a non-hopper dredge; 2) the vessel must be documented under Chapter 121 of Title 46; 3)
the vessel mugt be chartered to Stuyvesant Dredging Company, or to an entity in which it has
an ownership interest, to fufill dredging obligaions under a specific contract; and 4) the
dredging mug take place prior to December 8, 2022, or when the vessel STUYVESANT ceases
to be documented, whichever occurs fird. The parties dispute the effect of requirement three,
which defendant argues, rather than mantaning the satus quo, dlows Stuyvesant Dredging
Company (or its parent Roya Boskdis, through Stuyvesant) to expand its dredging operations
by entering into new contracts and spawning new entities with no limitation on its ownership
interest. 5/

5/ Intervenor argues that plantiff’s suit is an improper collaterd attack on Customs
interpretation. 5 U.S.C. 8§ 702 (2000) confines chalenges to administrative agency action, not
involving money damages, to federd didrict court. Pantiff chalenges the contracting
officer’s respongbility determination.  The contracting officer specificdly utilized 46 U.S.C.
app. 8 292 to render an independent determination based on the facts and information available.
The contracting officer was not bound by prior Customs determinations involving different
facts. Stapp Towing, Inc. v. United States, 34 Fed. Cl. 300, 302 (1995) (acknowledging that,
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2. Cusdoms determinations

The Bureau of Cusoms and Border Protection (“Customs’) 6/ is empowered to issue
letter rulings describing its officdd podtion regarding interpretation of maitime laws. 19
C.FR. 8 1779 (2002). Three letter rulings have been issued regarding the subsection (A)(iii)
exception of the Oceans Act — one involving intervenor and two involving Stuyvesant Dredging
Company, the 50%-owner of intervenor. Although Customs decisons may be cited as
authority for a gmilar transaction, “no other person should rey on the ruling letter or assume
that the principles of that letter will be agpplied in connection with any transaction other than
the one described in the letter.” 19 C.ER. 8 177.9(c). Customs has the right to modify or
revoke aletter ruling a any time. 1d.

Defendat and intervenor urge the court to sustain Customs interpretation of the
exception. “[Clonsderable weight should be accorded to an executive department’s
congruction of a statutory scheme it is entrusted to administer.” Chevron U.SA. Inc. V.
Natural Res. Def. Coundil, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 844 (1984). This standard gpplies 0 long as
“it appears from the dtatute or its legidative higtory that the accommodation is not one that
Congress would have sanctioned.” United States v. Shimer, 367 U.S. 374, 383 (1961). “If the
intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the court, as wdl as the agency,
must give effect to the unambiguoudy expressed intent of Congress” Chevron, 467 U.S. at
842-43.

Only when the court determines that Congress has not addressed the precise issue
directly is it necessay to consult an adminidrative interpretation:  When the “datute is Slent
or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue, the question for the court is whether the
agency’s answer is based on a permissble condruction of the dtatute.” Chevron, 467 U.S. a

dthough bound by determination of the Smdl Busness Adminidration regarding Certificate
of Competency, contracting officer has discretion to award contract “based on independent
judgment and new information”). Fantiff is chdlenging the contracting officer’s decison,
which reflects his indegpendent judgment informed by Customs decisons, as not in accordance
with law. After January 1, 2001, the Court of Federd Clams is the only forum with
jurisdiction over a bid protest that chalenges a contracting officer’s determination as not in
accordance with law. 28 U.S.C. § 1491(b)(2).

It should be noted that defendant does not support intervenor's agument that
juridiction liesin another forum.

6/ On March 1, 2003, the U.S. Cugoms Service was merged with the Border Patrol and
made part of the new Department of Homeland Security, prior to which Customs was part of
the Department of Trangportation.



843. In the present case, the datute is neither slent nor ambiguous with respect to the
exception to 46 U.S.C. app. § 292. Where the “plain meaning” of the datute is invoked, the
need does not aise for the court to consult adminidraive interpretations, within the
framework prescribed in Chevron.

“‘If a court, employing traditiond tools of statutory construction, ascertains that
Congress had an intention on the precise question at issue, that intention is the law and must
be given effect.”” Kilpatrick v. Principi, 327 F.3d 1375, 1384 (Fed. Cir. 2003) (quoting
Chevron, U.S. a 843 n.9, 845). “*We only defer . . . to agency interpretations of statutes that,
goplying the normd “tools of statutory congtruction,” are ambiguous.’” Kilpatrick, 327 F.3d
at 1384 (quoting INS v. St. Cyr, 533 U.S. 289, 320 n.45 (2001)). However, the Supreme Court
has hdd that Chevron deference does not gpply to dl adminidraive interpretations, even where
the underlying statute is ambiguous. United States v. Mead Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 231 (2001)
(denying Chevron deference to Customs letter ruling interpreting taiff regulations when no
indication was present that Congress delegated lavmaking authority dlowing Customs to make
classfications).

The parties have not argued that 46 U.S.C. app. 8§ 292 gives any indication that Congress
intended to delegate rule-making authority to Customs. Section 251b of the same act alows
the Secretary of the Treasury to issue regulaions “necessary for the enforcement of the
provisons of this act.” The satute indicates that Congress delegated enforcement, rather than
rule-making authority.

Customs interpretations may dgill “meit some deference whatever its form, given the
‘specidized experience and broader investigations and information’ available to the agency.”
Mead Corp., 533 U.S. a 234 (quoting Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 143, 139 (1944)).
This “power to persuade’ of an adminigrative agency determination is limited by the “merits
of its writer's thoroughness, logic, and expertness, and its fit with prior interpretations, and
other sources of weight” 1d. at 235; see dso Washington State Dep't of Soc. & Hedth Servs.
v. Guadianship Edate of Keffder, 537 U.S. 371, 123 S. Ct. 1017, 1026 (2003)
(adminidrative interpretations not product of formd rulemaking “warrant respect in closng
the door on any suggedstion that the usud rules of datutory congtruction should get short
ghrift”).

Cugoms issued a letter ruing sought by Stuyvesant Dredging Company addressing
whether the subsection (A)(iii) exception alowed Stuyvesant Dredging Company to charter
a non-hopper dredge for a contract that the STUYVESANT could not perform. HQ 114247
(Feb. 17, 1998), 1998 U.S. Custom HQ LEXIS 538. Customs announced a four-element test
that alows. 1) non-hopper dredges; 2) documented under 46 U.S.C. § 12101; 3) chartered to
Stuyvesat Dredging Company to fulfill obligations under a specific contract; which 4) is
completed prior to December 8, 2022, or when STUYVESANT ceases to be documented. |d.



a 3. Cudoms determined that no ambiguity inhered in the exception requiring a departure
from the “plan language” 1d. Without further andyss, Customs concluded that Stuyvesant
Dredging Company may charter anon-hopper for dredging in the United States. 1d.

Suyvesant Dredging Company next sought a letter ruling dlowing it to form a separate
company in patnership with a U.S. entity, with the new entity engaging in chartering non-
hopper dredges for use on a contract-by-contract bass. HQ 114556 (Dec. 15, 1998), 1998
U.S. Custom HQ LEXIS 935. Cugtoms again determined that the exception was clear on its
face and, without further discussion (“it is readily apparent”), stated that the new entity may
charter non-hopper dredges under the four-part test. 1d. at 3.

The Corps requested a ruling as to the legdity of dlowing intervenor, an entity in which
Suyvesant Dredging Company has an interest, to charter non-hopper dredges, sought its own
letter ruling, HQ 115474 (Oct. 5, 2001), 2001 U.S. Custom HQ LEXIS 317. Customs
reiterated its pogtion that the exception is unambiguous and that intervenor clearly meets the
four requirements. 1d. 7/

Cusgtoms relied on HQ 114556 as authority in deciding HQ 115474, because the former
did involve ajoint venture smilar to intervenor, with Smilar underlying facts. 1d.

When interpreting the four requirements of the subsection (A)(iii) exception, Customs
faled to andyze the effect of requirement three in conjunction with the entirety of the
exception. The satutory language limits non-hopper charters to those “necessary (a) to fulfill
dredging operations under a gpecific contract, including any extenson periods, or (b) as
temporary replacement capacity for a vessd which has become disabled but only for so long
as the disility shdl last and until the vessdl is in a pogtion to fully resume dredging.”
Customs, invoking the plain meaning, determined that any dredging contract entered into by
Suyvesant Dredging Company or an entity in which it has an interes would fulfill dredging
operations under a specific contract. In reading the exception, Customs gave no consideration
to the phrases “necessary to fulfill,” “extendgon periods” or the language of subsection (b)(ii)
concerning  “temporary replacement.”  Moreover, Customs ignored the relaionship between
subsections (A)(ii) and (A)(iii) insofar as the former restricts hoppers to those documented
as of the date of enactment and the latter, gpplicable to non-hoppers, contains the phrases
guoted above that do not appear in the exception for hopper dredges, subsection (A)(ii).
Customs made no attempt to read these three exceptions in context.

7/ In HQ 115474, Customs determined that HQ 114247 did not congtitute authority for
the current issue. HQ 114247 involved Stuyvesant Dredging Company, not a joint venture with
Bean Dredging, LLC, as wdl as different performance requirements on a contract that the
vessel STUYVESANT could not perform due to Size condraints. 1d. at 7.
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In defending Customs' interpretation, defendant argues “the use of ‘as is necessary’ in
clause 2(A)(iii) is not ambiguous if the language is read in context, as it should be” Def.’s Br.
filed Oct. 9, 2003, a 12. When liging the four requirements of (A)(iii), Customs excluded
the language “as is necessary.” HQ 114247; HQ 114556; HQ 115474. By making no mention
of this phrase, Customs ignored whatever effect it may have.

Cusoms based its decison on the plan meaning of the datutory exception, a
determination that this court may review without deference. See Demarest v. Manspeaker, 498
U.S. 184, 190 (1991) (holding adminidrative interpretation of statute under plain language not
entitled to deference). Given Customs limited examination of the datute, fallure to consider
dl the statutory language, condderation of some phrases out of context, and falure to consider
the exception as a whole, this court proceeds to conduct its own andyss of the requirements
of the subsection (A)(iii) exception.

3. Application of legidative hisory and canons of statutory construction

The Supreme Court has discussed at length the rule for determining when and how to
aoply an act’'s legidative history. See, e.q., Blanchard v. Bergeron, 489 U.S. 87, 99 (1989)
(Scdia, J., concurring); Green v. Bock Laundry Mach. Co., 490 U.S. 504, 509-11 (1989);
Public Citizen v. U.S. Dep't of Judtice, 491 U.S. 440, 453-54 (1989). In interpreting a Statute,
a cout mugst begin with the language of the daute itsdf. Demarest, 498 U.S. a 187,
Consumer Prod. Safety Comm'nv. GTE Sylvania, Inc., 447 U.S. 102, 108 (1980).

The court then decides whether the language of the datute is ambiguous. Generdly, if
the language is unambiguous the court may not refer to the legiddive history. HUD wv.
Rucker, 535 U.S. 125, 132 (2002); United States v. Gonzales, 520 U.S. 1, 6 (1997). In the
event, however, that a literd reading of the plan language would “compel an odd result,” the
court must examine the legidative history in order properly to condrue the rule irrespective
of the text's ambiguity.  Green, 490 U.S. a 509-11 (ambiguous text); see dso Conroy V.
Aniskoff, 507 U.S. 511, 514 (1993) (unambiguous text). “Unquestionably the courts, in
interpreting a datute, have some ‘scope for adopting a restricted rather than a literal or usua
meaning of its words where acceptance of that meaning would lead to absurd results . . . or
would thwart the obvious purpose of the statute.’” Commissoner v. Brown, 380 U.S. 563, 571-
72 (1965) (citations omitted) (holding, however, that Statute not construed too broadly or
contrary to the purpose of the Internd Revenue Code). When interpreting unambiguous
datutory language, judicid inquiry is auffident except where its application as written is
“‘demondrably a odds with the intentions of its drafters’” Demarest, 498 U.S. a 190
(quoting Griffin v. Oceanic Contractors, Inc., 458 U.S. 564, 571 (1982)); see dso Consumer
Prod. Safety Comm'n, 447 U.S. at 108.




Legidaive higtory is consdered when necessary to respond to a party’s argument that
a literd interpretation would produce an absurd result. In Conroy the Supreme Court hdd that
the datute in question was “unambiguous, unequivocd, and unlimited” 507 U.S. a 514.
Respondents argued not againg the plan meaning, but that, in the context of the statute as a
whole, the textua interpretation produced an absurd result. Id. The Court therefore proceeded
to andyze the implications of the legidaive hidory, although ultimately rejecting
respondents argument. Id. at 514-18. 8/

In Green the Supreme Court consdered whether Fed. R. Evid. 609(a)(1) alowed a civil
litigant to attack his adversary’s credibility through prior felony convictions. 490 U.S. a 505.
The literd reading of the rule provided a civil defendant rights in connection with impeaching
an adversary’s tesimony that it denied a avil plantff. Id. a 510. Following a thorough
consultation of the rule's legidaive higory, induding the actions of a “distinguished Advisory
Committee appointed at the recommendation of the Judicid Conference of the United States,”
the House and the Senate, and their corresponding reports, the Court determined that the rule
required a “judge to pemit impeechment of a dvil witness with evidence of prior felony
convictions regardless of ensuat unfar prgudice to the witness or the party offering the
testimony.” 9/ 1d. at 515, 527.

The Supreme Court in Public Citizen addressed the question of whether the Federa
Advisory Committee Act (the “FACA”) applies to the advisory reationship between the
Depatment of Jusice and the American Bar Association's Standing Committee on Federal
Judiciary in the context of federa judgeship appointees. 491 U.S. a 443. The Court analyzed
whether the “advisory committeg’ is “utilized” by the Presdent “as Congress intended that
term to be understood.” 1d. a 452. In explaining the sandard, the Court stated that, where the

8/ In his concurring opinion, Justice Scdia wrote that, because the Court held the
datute to be unambiguous, dl further discusson of legiddive higtory in support of the Court’s
decison was “fdse and disuptive” Conroy, 507 U.S. a 519 (Scdia, J.,, concurring). “The
greatest defect of legidaive history is its illegitimecy. We ae governed by laws, not by the
intentions of legidators.” 1d.

Justice Scdia has cautioned that “committee reports . . . are increasingly unrdigble
evidence of what the voting Members of Congress actudly had in mind.” Blanchard, 489 U.S.
at 99 (Scdlia, J.,, concurring).

9/ Judtice Scdia agreed that the statute would produce an absurd result and that
legidaive hisory should be consulted, dthough he wrote separatdy indicating that the
emphasis should be on the interpretation most consonant with ordinary usage and thus most
likely the meaning adopted by the entire Congress, rather than the Committee Reports likely
read by only a few Members of Congress. Green, 490 U.S. at 527-28 (Scdia, J., concurring).
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“literd reading of a statutory term would ‘compel an odd result; . . .we must search for other
evidence of congressond intent to lend the term its proper scope.” 10/ Id. at 454 (quoting
Green, 490 U.S. a 509). “Looking beyond the naked text for guidance is perfectly proper
when the result it apparently decrees is difficult to fathom or where it seems inconsistent with
Congress's intention.” 1d. at 455. The Court held that Congress could not have intended the
FACA to apply to dl groups of two or more persons from which the President seeks advice or
to conaultations with his own politicd party before sdecting a Cabinet member — an odd result
—and thus, examination of legidative intent was gppropriate. 1d. at 453-54.

The discusson does not end here, however, as the Court of Federal Clams aso is
bound by the precedent of the United States Court of Claims and the Court of Appeds for the
Federa Circuit. See South Corp. v. United States, 690 F.2d 1368, 1370 (Fed. Cir. 1982)
(stating Federad Circuit bound by precedent of former Court of Clams). Moreover, as this
court has dstated, “when interpreting the decisons of the Federal Circuit, the Court of Federa
Clams mug endeavor to harmonize precedent to preserve a coherent body of law.” RCS
Enters., Inc. v. United States, 46 Fed. Cl. 509, 517 (2000).

The Federal Circuit agrees that datutory interpretation begins with the language of the
datute. VE Holding Corp. v. Johnson Gas Appliance Co., 917 F.2d 1574, 1579 (Fed. Cir.
1990) (ating cases). But see Texas State Comm'n for the Blind v. United States, 796 F.2d
400, 406 (Fed. Cir. 1986) (en banc) (quoting United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 580
(1981)). 11/ When unambiguous, the language controls, unless legidative intent is clearly

10/ The Court “explicitly reject[ed]” the absurdity standard, holding that an “odd
result” could aso require inquiry into congressional intent. Public Citizen, 491 U.S. at 454,
n9. Appaently, extending the FACA’s requirements to any two people from whom the
Presdent seeks advice is thus an “odd,” though not necessarily “absurd” result. See id. at 452.
This gppears to be afine-line digtinction.

11/ While quoting Turkette's language indicating that a court mugt begin with the plain
language, the Federa Circuit, in condruing an exemption to the Randolph-Sheppard Vending
Stand Act, 20 U.S.C. § 107d3(d), providing, in part, that certain subsections shall not apply to
“income from vending machines within retall sales outlets under the control of exchange or
ships stores sysems,” began by discussng its review of the legidative hisory and concluded
that the funds in question were to be diverted a no cost to the Government and without any
decrease in government services, despite characterizing some of the legidative higory as
“confusing.” Texas, 796 F.2d a 407 n.9. The court discussed statements submitted in support
of the hill's enactment, the circumstances giving rise to addition of the exemption, a senator’s
explanation of the hill, and the process preceding its passage in the House of Representatives.

Id. at 407-11. The actions of the adminidrative agency in charge of drafting the regulations
aso were considered, yet no deference was accorded based on its internd vacillations and the
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contrary or when its application produces a “result so unlikely that Congress could not have
intended it” VE Holding Corp., 917 F.2d a 1580. In VE Holding, the Federal Circuit
interpreted an amendment to chapter 87 of 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c) and, in so doing, examined the
legidaive higory of the amendment to indicate that no intent was evidenced contrary to the
datute.  1d. a 1580. In genera, the court should assume that the ordinary meaning of the
language expresses the legidative intent. 1d. at 1581. The Federd Circuit in Marttin J. Smko
Condruction, Inc. v. United States, 852 F.2d 540 (Fed. Cir. 1988), stated that only where the
legidaive intent runs contrary to the satutory text should the court consult the legidative
higory and examine legidative higory upon concuding that the language was not clear. See
George E. Warren Corp. v. United States, 341 F.3d 1348, 1353 (Fed. Cir. 2003) (examining
legidative higory in order to regect appdlant's satutory interpretation argument that
incongruous references in legidative history should “trump” plain meaning interpretation).

The foregoing precedent indructs that an interpretation consgent with the plan
meaning is preferred to cobbling a meaning from the dsatute's legidative hisory. A court
derives the plan meaning of a dtatute from its text and sructure. Alexander v. Sandoval, 532
U.S. 275, 288 (2001). And, importantly, the statute must be read as a whole. Conray, 507 U.S.
a 515. “The plan meaning that we seek to discern is the plain meaning of the whole statute,
not of isolated sentences.” Beecham v. United States, 511 U.S. 368, 372 (1994) (construing
together three provisons of federa firearms datutes). Where Congress introduces language
in one section yet omits it another, the disparate incluson or excluson is deemed intentiond.
Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 173-74 (2001); see dso Ad Hoc Comm. of AZ-NM-TX-FL

agency’s fdlure to propose its own interpretation of the statutory language. Id. a 411-12. In
determining the datutory purpose, the court examined “not smply the purpose of the
legidation, but the purpose of the exemption.” Id. a 414. Then, “[g]iven the congressional
purpose of the exemption, the question becomes whether the language can reasonably be
interpreted . . . to effectuate that purpose.” 1d. The court decided not to parse the lines of this
statute, however, because Congress did not debate and carefully choose the wording of the
exemption in question. |d. at 415.

On the other hand, the compdling dissenting opinion in this case found nothing
ambiguous in the statutory language. Id. at 417. By ignoring the datutory words “within retail
sdes outlets” the mgority rewrote the statute, according to the dissenters. 1d.  The dissent
reasoned that no absurdity resulted from applying the dtatute as written; rather the “didtinction
between machines within retall stores and those in other locaions appear[ed] to be consgtent
with Congress's gods and of the compromise struck between the exchange sysem and the
blind” Id. at 422-23. Accordingly, the dissent’'s andyss began and ended with the plain
meaning, addressing the risks associated with relying on legidative history that may distort any
true congressond intent, if one coherent intent existed. 1d. at 427.
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Producers of Gray Portland Cement v. United States, 13 F.3d 398, 401 (Fed. Cir. 1994)
(ating cases) (“[W]here Congress has induded specific language in one section of a datute
but has omitted it from another, related section of the same Act, it is generdly presumed that
Congress intended the omission.”).

In Duncan the Supreme Court interpreted a datute that provided: “‘The time during
which a properly filed application for State post-conviction or other collateral review with
respect to the pertinent judgment or dam is pending shdl not be counted toward any period
of limitation under this subsection.”” 533 U.S. a 169. The Court compared this text with
other portions of the statute where “federd” was specificaly mentioned and concluded that
its omisson entaled that an application for federa review would not toll the datute of
limitations as did gpplications for state review. Id. a 173-74. This interpretation aso avoided
rendering superfluous any words in the statute. Id. a 174. The Court must “‘give effect, if
possible, to every clause and word of a statute’” Id. (quoting United States v. Menasche, 348
U.S. 528, 538-39 (1955)). The Court adso hestates to employ a construction rendering
gatutory language redundant. United Statesv. Alaska, 521 U.S. 1, 59-61 (1997).

Yet, these canons of satutory condruction are applied with caution, as the Supreme
Court has indicated that a canon pointing a court in one direction may often be countered with
a maxim moving the court in a different direction. Chickasaw Nation v. United States, 534 U.S.
84, 94 (2001). Canons are not binding rules, they provide guidance to determine legidative
intent “as embodied in paticular statutory language” 1d. The Court nonetheless referred to
the canon requiring that each word be given effect, if possble, noting that it sometimes is
offset by the canon permitting a court to rgect surplusage. 1d. The Court applied this rule in
Nationa Credit Union Adminidration v. First National Bank & Trust Co., 522 U.S. 479, 502-
03 (1998) adopting the interpretation that avoided surplussge and ensuring that smilar
language contained in the same section was interpreted in the same way.

4. Interpretation of datutory provision based on its plain meaning

46 U.S.C. app. 8§ 292(a) provides asfollows:

§292. Vesselsthat may engagein dredging
(@ In general
Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, a vessel may engage in dredging
in the navigable waters of the United States only if—

(1) the vessel meets the requirements of section 883 of this Appendix and
sections 802 and 803 of this Appendix for engaging in the coastwise trade;

(2) when chartered, the charterer of the vessd is a citizen of the United States
under sections 802 and 803 of this Appendix for engaging in the coastwise trade; and
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(3) for a vessd that is at least 5 net tons, the vessal is documented under chapter
121 of title 46 with a coastwise endorsement.

Public Law 102-587 amended 46 U.S.C. app. 8§ 292, “VesHs that may engage in

dredging,” commonly referred to as the “Foreign Dredge Act.” Prior to amendment, the act
provided: “A foreign-built dredge shdl not, under pendty of forfeture, engage in dredging in
the United States unless documented as avessel of the United States.” 46 U.S.C. app.
8§ 292. The current verson references several other sections of the United States Code.  For
example, section 883 entitled “Trangportation of merchandise between points in United States
in other than domegtic built or rebuilt and documented vessdls, incineration of hazardous waste
a sea’ provides, in part, that “[n]Jo merchandise . . . shal be transported by water . . . between
points in the United States . . . in any other vessdl than a vessd built in and documented under
the laws of the United States and owned by persons who are dtizens of the United States . . .
" Section 802 of the Shipping Appendix entitled “Corporation, partnership, or association as
citizen,” provides, in part:

Within the meaning of this chapter no corporation, partnership, or
association shdl be deemed a citizen of the United States unless the controlling
interest therein is owned by dtizens of the United States, and, in the case of a
corporation, unless its chief executive officer, by whatever title, and the
charman of its board of directors are citizens of the United States and unless
no more of its directors than a minority of the number necessary to condtitute
a quorum are nondtizens and the corporation itsdf is organized under the laws
of the United States . . . but in the case of a corporation, association, or
patnership operating ay vessd in the coastwise trade the amount of interest
required to be owned by dtizens of the United States shall be 75 per centum.

Section 803 dates that “[tlhe provisons of this chapter shdl apply to receivers and
trustees of all persons to whom the chapter applies, and to the successors or assignees of such
persons.” The abovereferenced chapter 121, entitted “Documentation of vessds’ is found at
46 U.S.C. 88 12101-12124 and dedineates which vessals are digible for documentation, the
effect of documentation, the regisry of endorsements and certain limitations and pendlties.
Specificdly, § 12102, “VesHs digble for documentation” provides, in part, that a vessel that
is “not registered under the laws of a foreign country is digible for documentation if the vessdl
is owned by . . . a corporation esablished under the laws of the United States or of a State,
whose chief executive officer, by whatever title, and chairman of its board of directors are
dtizens of the United States and no more of its directors are noncitizens than a minority of the
number necessary to condtitute a quorum.”

Accordingly, because the parties agree tha Bean Stuyvesant, LLC, fals to meet the
75% U.S.-ownership provisons of sections 802-803, required by 46 U.S.C. app. 8§ 292(a)(2),
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the court looks to the exception to the 1992 amendment entitted “Nonapplicability to Certain
Vesdls”

full:

The exception to 46 U.S.C. app. § 292(a), Pub. L. 102-587 § 5501(a)(2), provides, in

NONAPPLICABILITY TO CERTAIN VESSELS
Section 5501(a)(2) of Pub. L. 102-587 provided that:
“The amendment made by paragraph (1) [amending this section] does not apply to—
“(A)(i) thevessel STUYVESANT, officid number 648540;

“(i) any other hopper dredging vessal documented under chapter 121 of title 46,
United States Code before the effective date of this Act [Nov. 4, 1992] and chartered
to Stuyvesant Dredging Company or to an entity in which it has an ownership interest;
however, this exception expires on December 3, 2022 or when the vessd
STUYVESANT ceases to be documented under chapter 121, whichever firg occurs, and

“(ii) any other non-hopper dredging vessel documented under chapter 121 and
chartered to Stuyvesant Dredging Company or to an entity in which it has an ownership
interest, as is necessary (@) to fufill dredging obligaions under a specific contract,
induding any extenson periods, or (b) as temporary replacement cepecity for a vesse
which has become dissbled but only for so long as the disability shal last and until the
vessdl is in a podtion to fuly resume dredging operations, however, this exception
expires on December 8, 2022 or when the vessel STUYVESANT ceases to be
documented under chapter 121, whichever first occurs,

“(B) the vessd COLUMBUS, officid number 590658, except that the vessd’'s
certificate of documentation shdl be endorsed to prohibit the vessdl from engaging in
the trangportation of merchandise (except vaudess materid), including dredge materia
of vaue, between places within the navigable waters of the United States;

“(C) a vess that is engaged in dredged materia excavation if that excavation is
not more than a minority of the tota cost of the congruction contract in which the
excavation isasingle, integra part, and the vessd is—

“(i) built in the United Stetes;

“(it) anon-sdlf-propelled mechanica damshdl dredging vessd; and

“(ii)) owned or chartered by a corporation that had on file with the Secretary of
Transportation, on August 1, 1989, the certificate specified in section 27A of the
Merchant Marine Act, 1920 (46 App. U.S.C. 883-1); or

“(D) any other documented vessel engaged in dredging and time chartered to an
entity that, on August 1, 1989, was, and has continuoudy remained, the parent of a
corporation that had on file with the Secretary of Transportation on August 1, 1989, a
certificate specified in section 27A of the Merchant Marine Act, 1920 (46 App. U.S.C.
883-1) if the vessd is—

“(1) not engaged in afederdly funded navigation dredging project; and
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“(l) engaged only in dredging associated with, and integrd to, accomplishment
of that parent’s regular business requirements.”

The court concludes that the relevant exception in the 1992 amendment is amenable to
a congruction based on its plan meaning. The exception contains four exemptions from the
prohibition. The exception States that the prohibition of less than 75% U.S.-citizen-owned
vesds that may engage in dredging does not gpply to two vessdls, the STUYVESANT and the
COLUMBUS, and two other types of vessd described by ether the percentage participation
or daus of chatering entity. Each of these is a limited exception directed to a vessd, not to
a company. COLUMBUS is exempted, yet is prohibited from transporting dredge materia of
vaue between places within navigable U.S. waters. Section (C) exempts vessels engaged in
dredged materia excavation only if it is a minor part of a larger congtruction contract and the
vessd was “owned or chatered by a corporation that had on file with the Secretary of
Trangportation, on August 1, 1989, the cetificate specified in section 27A of the Merchant
Marine Act, 1920 (46 App. U.S.C. 883-1).” The exemption in section (D) is limited to
documented vessds chartered to certan entities satisfying the August 1, 1989 documentation
requirements and not engaged in federdly funded navigaion dredging projects. All four of
these exceptions thus are directed to vessds, not to any named or otherwise described

company.

With respect to the vessedl STUYVESANT, the exception gpplies to three types of
vesdls. the STUYVESANT itsdf, other hopper vessds, and non-hopper vessds.  All three
types of dredging vessels must be documented as required. The hopper and non-hopper vessals
must be chartered to Stuyvesant Dredging Company or to an entity in which it has an ownership
interest.  The exception is ddimited further in that it is finite The exception expires a the
earlier of 30 years or when the vessel STUYVESANT ceases to be documented.

With respect to hopper vesses, the exception imposes the limitation that they be
documented before the effective date of the Oceans Act — November 4, 1992.

With respect to non-hopper vessds, like the vessd MERIDIAN, Congress further
delimited the exception to the 1992 amendment. The exception to non-hopper vessels only
applies in two circumstances. The activities of the dredge must be deemed necessary to fulfill
dredging obligations under a specific contract, including any extenson periods, or,
dternatively, the dredge must be serving in a temporary replacement capacity for a vessd that
has become disabled. This dternative is delimited even further insofar as the replacement can
run only for so long as the disability sdl last and until the temporarily replaced vessd is in
a pogtion to fuly resume dredging operations. This exception does not require that the
vesses be documented as of November 4, 1992.
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These provisons mus be construed together and complement each other harmonioudy.
Under subsection (A)(i), the vessl STUYVESANT can peform dredging operations however
chartered until, a& a maximum, the end of its long-term charter (30 years). Under subsection
(A)(ii), Stuyvesant Dredging Company or an entity in which it has an interest can chater a
hopper, as long as it was documented before 1992, to engage in any dredging operation. These
two provisons are directed to hopper vessdls and contemplate future operations utilizing only
hopper vesds tha were in exisgence as of enactment. Under subsection (A)(iii), Stuyvesant
Dredging Company or an entity in which it has an interest can utilize any non-hopper, even if
not yet built, to fulfill contracts entered into utilizing STUYVESANT or any other qudified
hopper. In other words, the non-hoppers would be supplementa to the dredging activities
invalving hoppers. Also, a non-hopper so chartered can be used as a temporary replacement
for a hopper or a non-hopper. The latter event would occur when a contract is being performed
ony by a hopper or a non-hopper that has become disabled. llludrativey, (A)(iii)(b) would
goply in the following scenario:  Intervenor is engaged in a dredging operation involving a
hopper that becomes disabled.  Section (A)(iii)(b) would prevent plantiff from protesting
intervenor's  subdtitution of a non-hopper for the temporary replacement of the disabled
hopper.

This is the only congtruction that gives effect to dl of the conditions set forth inthe
exception to the 1992 amendment, interprets the phrases in context, and reads al of
subsections (A)(i), (i), and (iii) together, consonant with subsections (B), (C), and (D). While
the wording of the statute cannot be characterized as uncomplicated, its meaning is both plain
and clear.

Defendant argues that the vessdl MERIDIAN, as chartered by Bean Stuyvesant, LLC,
fdls within subsection (A)(iii), per the plan meaning of the exception. As defendant reads that
subsection, only four requirements must be met: (1) the vessdl is a non-hopper dredge; (2) the
vessd must be documented under chapter 121 of title 46; (3) the vessdl must be chartered to
Suyvesant Dredging Company or to another entity in which it has an ownership interes to
fufill dredging obligetions under a specific contract; and (4) the dredging would occur before
gther December 8, 2022, or the cessation of STUYVESANT'S documentation, whichever
occurs fird.  Defendant sees only the third requirement is in question and argues that
Suyvesant Dredging Company’s 50% interest in Bean Stuyvesant, LLC, satisfies subsection
(A)(ii).

This reading, according to defendant, is not contrary to the legidative purpose it is
consgent with 46 U.S.C. app. 8§ 802, which explicitly requires 75% U.S.-citizen ownership.
Because Congress demonstrated in that provison that it knew how to draft specific numerica
owvnership requirements, the omisson of any such requirement from subsection (A)(iii)
exception to the 1992 amendment was intentiond. This aspect of defendant’s congruction is
not maerid. Pantff is not contending that the daute imposes any specific minimum
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ownership interest in the entity. The exception does not support such a reading, in any event.
What defendant indgts, however, is that the language contemplates that the exception alows
an entity formed after the date of enactment.

Defendant characterizes both subsections (A)(ii) and (iii) as “forward looking and [they]
contemplate that vessds will in the future be chartered to ether Stuyvesant Dredging Co. or
to another entity in which it has an ownership interest.” Def.’s Br. filed Oct. 9, 2003, a 3.
Defendant makes much of the fact that the “only charter of a U.S. flagged vessd that Stuyvesant
Dredging Co. possessed on November 4, 1992 (the Act’'s effective date) was its long-term
charter of the dredge STUYVESANT.” 12/ Id. According to defendant, its pogtion is
supported by these facts in conjunction with 1 U.S.C. 8§ 1 (“words in the present tense include
the future as wdl as the present”) and case law dating that “undeviating use of the present
tense” equates to a cause of action for present or future harm, but not past harm. See Gwatney
of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 59 (1987).

Therefore, defendant’s proffered plan meaning is that Stuyvesant Dredging Company
and any entity in which it has an intere may be digible for awards of future contracts using
non-hopper vessds or temporarily replace any vessd in the future, up to the time the vessel
STUYVESANT isno longer in service, which is limited to 30 years.

Agreang with plantiff that al three subsections are directed to a vessd, defendant
interprets  dl three subsections only insofar as acknowledging that each has a specific
limitation. Defendant concedes that the operation of hopper vessals was the focus at the time
the legidation is enacted. The court cannot interpret an exception to a datute that prohibits
chaters by foreign-owned entities to permit foreign-owned entities to chater not yet
documented non-hopper vessels to perform future contracts not involving hopper vessds,
unless the non-hoppers provide temporary replacements for disabled hoppers or non-hoppers.
Such a reading is not conggtent with subsections (A)(i) and (A)(ii), which limit the exception
to the vessdl STUYVESANT and an exiding fleet of other hoppers, i.e., the exception cannot
swdlow therule.

Intervenor's argument based on plan meamning padlds that of defendant. Intervenor
focuses on the language of the subsection (A)(iil) exception to show that Stuyvesant Dredging
Company’s 50% ownership interest in intervenor sdisfies its requirementss The vessd
MERIDIAN is a non-hopper dredge in which Stuyvesant Dredging Company has an ownership
interest and the MERIDIAN “will be chartered to Bean Stuyvesant for the length of time

12/ The rdevant legidative history, as discussed below, does not indicate the number
of charters possessed by Stuyvesant Dredging Company a the time of enactment. See infra
note 17.
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needed to complete the contract awarded under Solicitation DACWS54-03-B-0011 including
any extensons” Intv.’s Br. filed Oct. 3, 2003, a 7. Intervenor notes that subsection (A)(iii),
unlike subsection (A)(ii), does not limit non-hopper vessds to those documented as of
November 4, 1992. Consequently, intervenor reasons, the plain meaning of the non-hopper
exception is that future contracts and activities with later-documented non-hopper vessds are
contemplated.

Tdlingly, intervenor expresses the subsection (A)(iil) exemption as gving Stuyvesant
Dredging Company “a means of operating within the United States.” Transcript  of
Proceedings, Norfolk Dredging Co. v. United States, No. 03-2225C, at 51 (Fed. Cl. Oct. 14,
2003) (ord agument) (“Tr.”). According to intervenor, subsection (A)(iii) is a limitation on
contracts, not on a specific type of vessd. Intervenor interrelates the three subsections insofar
as subsection (A)(i) dlows STUYVESANT free reign for the 30-year remainder of its charter
and other hoppers chartered to Stuyvesant Dredging Company or an entity in which it has an
interest for the same term, as long as these hoppers were documented a the beginning of the
period. This activity is not tied to any contract; indeed, these hoppers can “[glall . . . up and
down the Delaware for pleasure cruises” Tr. a 76. Subsection (A)(iii), in contrast, focuses
on the contracts on which Stuyvesant Dredging Company and the entity can bid. Thus,
intervenor reads the three provisons as separate limitations and does ground subsection (A)(ii)
onavess.

Each of the three subsections is tied to operations of the vessd STUYVESANT.
Defendat and intervenor each urge a plain-meaning congtruction that ignores the
interrdaionship of the exception for non-hopper vessdls and the provisons for hopper
vesels. In doing o0, they ignore the canon of dtatutory interpretation that, if possible, each
word in the statute mugt be given effect. Chickasaw Nation, 534 U.S. a 94; see dso Gwadltney,
484 U.S. a 68 (Scdia, J., dissenting because Court “ignorgld] the words of the statute’). 13/

13/ The court agrees with defendant and intervenor that the exception alows Stuyvesant
Dredging Company or any entity in which it has an interest to enter into future contracts with
its exiging fleet. Interestingly, defendant cites to the mgority opinion in Gwatney to make
its case that the datute contemplates dlowing Stuyvesant Dredging Company to expand its
interests in the future. The mgority sated that the language and dructure of the other
provisons in the act, together with the “to be in violation” language, entalled a forward-looking
condruction. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. a 59. In the present case, reading al the provisons together
entals a condruction with tempora redrictions.  Subsection (8)(i) is restricted tempordly to
the exigence of the STUYVESANT; (8)(ii), to any other hopper documented before November
4, 1992; and (g)(iii), to a non-hopper as “is necessary . . . to fufill dredging obligations under
a spedfic contract, induding any extenson periods’ or as a temporary replacement. As the
fird two subsections are located tempordly in the present, the most logicd and naturd
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“We have gstated time and again that courts must presume that a legidature says in a Satute what
it means and means in a Satute what it says there” Barnhart v. Sgmon Coal Co., 534 U.S. 438,
461-62 (2002) (quoting Connecticut Nat'l| Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253-54 (1992)).

The plan meening condruction is vdid whether or not Stuyvesant Dredging Company
had any non-hopper dredging vessds chartered to itsdf or to an entity in which it had an
ownership interest as of the date of enactment. Defendant is correct in that the exception to
the 1992 amendment would dlow Stuyvesant Dredging Company to join in future entities, and
charter through them. Defendant, however, fals to acknowledge that any such entities ill are
resricced by (A)(iii)@ and (b), insofar as they may charter non-hopper vessds.  An
arangement would satidy this part of the exception only if the chartered non-hopper vessd
“is necessary . . . to fufill dredging obligations under a specific contract,” supplementing a
hopper vessdl documented as of 1992, “including any extenson periods” or to complete
temporary replacement of a hopper or non-hopper performing a hopper contract. Neither
defendant nor intervenor has argued that Bean Stuyvesant, LLC, is chartering the MERIDIAN
to fufill a specfic contract in exisence, including any extenson period, a the time of the
enactment.

“The gatute is clear on its face, however, as the court aly explains, and thus anything
one Senator, or even several Senators, may have said with regard to the statute cannot vary its
meaning; it is the Statute that is the law, not some selected piece of the legidative record.”
Alliant_Techsystems, Inc. v. United States, 178 F.3d 1260, 1277 (Fed. Cir. 1999) (Plager, J.,
concurring). The court should not consult legidative history to bolster its result. In fact, the
Supreme Court repeatedly has instructed courts not to so. Desert Palace, Inc. v. Costa, 123
S Ct. 2148, 2153 (2003) (dating that with unambiguous datute the judicid inquiry is
complete); cf. Bath Iron Works, Corp. v. United States, 20 F.3d 1567, 1581-82 (Fed. Cir.
1994) (reviewing legidaive hisory where Government argued that it reveded ultimate
purpose of act); Richads Med. Co. v. United States, 910 F.2d 828, 830 (Fed. Cir. 1990)
(begimning with plan meaning and then consulting other extringc ads induding legidative
higory, as necessary). As the parties agree that the plan meaning of the Statute can be
ascertained and controls, legidative hisory is rdevant only if 1) the plan-meaning
congtruction is inconggent with the stated purpose of the statute, as articulated by Congress,
United States v. Ron Pair Enters., Inc., 489 U.S. 235, 242 (1989), or 2) if the construction
would produce an absurd result, Commissoner v. Brown, 380 U.S. at 571-72;_see also Red
v. Dep't of Commerce, 793 F.2d 277, 281-82 (Fed. Cir. 1986) (citing cases).

congtruction places the third subsection temporaly in the present, as well. Moreover, this
reading is consonant with sections (B)-(D) of the exception to the 1992 amendment. Section
(B) limits the exemption to certain activities of the vessd COLUMBUS, and both (C) and (D)
are tempordly redtricted to vessls owned and/or chartered by a corporation with certain
documentation in place as of August 1, 1989.
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The legidative higory is limited. 14/ The full language of the exception to the 1992
amendment inspired some pertinent discourse in the House of Representatives. See 138 Cong.
Rec. 15647 (1992). Representative W. J. (“Billy”) Tauzin noted that the amendment as a
whole arose because “dredges [were] not subject to the same requirement as other aspects of
the maritime industry,” dating its purpose as “cloding] loopholes’ in the law. Id. (Statement
of Rep. Tauzin). The amendment “has been written in cooperation with the U.S. dredging
operators and grandfathers existing foreign-owned fleets” 1d. (emphess added). 15/ The
October 5, 1992 House Congressond Record provides a section-by-section andyss of the
Coast Guard Authorization Act, which was preceded by citation in full of the exception in
guestion as adopted. 16/ Tha andyss recites that “[glubsection (8)(2) of the bill grandfathers
certain existing vessds that do not currently comply with these new requirements and vesss
that are used as an integrd part of an operation where dredging is a minority of the total costs
of that operation.” 17/ 138 Cong. Rec. 32471 (1992) (emphasis added).

Pantiff asserts that the reference to exiding flets and vessds demondrates
congressond intent to “preserve the datus quo” for Stuyvesant Dredging Company and not to
provide its foregn owner with an opportunity to expand its dredging operations. Pl.’s Br. filed
Oct. 6, 2003, at 23. Moreover, plantiff views this exception as a means for Congress to adlow

14/ Defendant indicates that part of the legidative higory refers to a prior verson of
the exception when it exempted only “the vessd STUYVESANT, officid number 648540,
operating under an Order of Approval granted under section 9 of the Shipping Act, 1916 (46
App. U.S.C. 808).” H.R. Rep. 102-260, at 4 (1991). The court refers only to the legidative
history citing the exception language as adopted.

15/ Defendant observes that Representative Tauzin did not date directly that the
purpose of the exception was “protect[ing] existing dredging operations” That Staement was
part of a postion paper issued by the House Committee on Merchant Marine and Fisheries,
which Representative Tauzin directed to be incorporated into the Congressona Record. See
138 Cong. Rec. 15647 (1992). Moreover, in October 1991 this position statement appeared
in the same form in House Report 102-260, accompanying hbill H.R. 1464, in which the
Stuyvesant exception extended to the vessal only, and not to any hoppers or non-hoppers. See
H.R. Rep. No. 102-260, at 4 (1991).

16/ The exact language corresponds to the session lav. See Pub. L. No. 102-587, 106
Stat. 5084.

17/ Despite folowing a datement of the exception as adopted, the (a)(2) reference
mogst likdy refers back to the earlier verson of the exception refering to the vessd only, as
the numbering corresponds best to “Sec. 7. Coastwise Law,” “(@) DREDGES” “(2)
EXCEPTION,” inH.R. 1464. See H.R. Rep. No. 102-260, at 4.
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the STUYVESANT, one of the largest hopper dredges in the fleet a the time, to continue its
operations for a limited period. Defendant counters that this legidative history is, a best,
ambiguous.  Defendant concedes that it could refer only to “dredging contracts then in
progress,” but proffers that Congress could have intended to assure the “continued economic
success of Stuyvesant Dredging Co. in the U.S. dredging market.” Def.’s Br. filed Oct. 3,
2003, a 16. Intervenor admonishes that plaintiff’s reading of the legidative history would
render supefluous the language “or to an entity in which it has an ownership interest.” Intv.’s
Br. filed Oct. 8, 2003, at 14. Intervenor concurs with defendant that no evidence is present of
a clear congressonal intent that would support plantiff's podtion and reterates the
congressona purpose to permit Stuyvesant Dredging Company to operate in the United States.
18/

18/ The parties have cited to a background document drafted in anticipation of the
“Joint Hearing on Interpretations of Exiding Ownership Requirements for U.S. Fag Dredges
of the Subcommittee on Water Resources and Environment and the Subcommittee on Coast
Guard and Maitime Transportation,” which subsequently was held on April 30, 2003.
Available at http://www.house.gov/transportation/water/04-30-03/04-30-03memo.html.
Defendant also includes statements by individuals who testified a the April 30, 2003 hearing,
induding:  Larry Burton, Director of the Internationd Trade Compliance Divison, Office of
Regulations and Rulings Bureau of Cusoms and Border Protection; Barry W. Holliday, Chief,
Navigation and Operations Branch of the Corps, James W. Bean, Charman and CEO of C.F.
Bean, LLC; and Richad S. Weeks, Presdent of the Dredging Contractors of America
Available at http://www.house.gov/transportation/water/04-30-03/
04-30-03memo.htmI#WITNESSES. Given the expedited nature of this case, the court has
relied on the parties to show why the supplemented materids cited in their briefs should be
regarded ether as legidative history of the 1992 Oceans Act or manifestation of Congress's
view of the legidaion post-enactment. These materids are not considered by this court
because they are not part of the legidative history of 46 U.S.C. app. 8 292 and do not indicate
how the House of Representatives interprets the terms.

The document, which describes the background of the datute in issue, and the
witnesses  datements are not appropriate for judicdad noticee Fed. R. Evid. 201. The
background document and statements do not relate to legidation that has been passed by
Congress.  Congressond hearings regarding the datute were held in 1996, with no new
legidation resulting. See 142 Cong. Rec. S.5589 (1996). Plantiff observes that Congress
rejected legidation that would have permitted foreign-registered vessds to dredge in U.S
waters in 1996 and thus argues that no dgnificance should be given to this prdiminary
legidative skirmishing in 2003.

18/ (Cont’d from page 23.)
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This court reads legidative history with the appropriate caution dictated by the Supreme
Court. Nothing in the limited legidaive history indicates a dear congressond purpose in
contradiction to the plan meaning condruction of the datute set forth above. Congress was
“doding] loopholes’ and thereby limited the exceptions for STUYVESANT and/or Stuyvesant
Dredging Company in each subsection of 5501(a)(2)(A). As defendant points out, the
datement that the “amendment dso includes a grandfather clause to protect existing dredging
operations’ corresponds most directly to the earlier verson of the exception. However, the
amendment as findly enacted with the current amended language, fird was presented to the
House of Representatives. After reading the language in question, Representative Tauzin
stated: “This amendment would close loopholes in the Federd law. It has been written in
cooperation with the U.S. dredging operators and grandfathers existing foreign-owned flegts”
138 Cong. Rec. 15647.

An intet to grandfather in “exiging vessels’ and “protect existing dredging operations’
is not ambiguous, as defendant argues, or incongstent with the condruction adopted. Congress
consstently sought to confine foreign dredging operations. In the fird ingance, the
legidaion confined the operations to the vessl STUYVESANT only. Subsequently,
Suyvesant Dredging Company’s activities were limited to hoppers documented before
November 4, 1992, and to non-hoppers that would fuffill obligations under contracts (or their
extendgons) performed by hoppers documented prior to 1992 or as temporary replacement
vessals for hoppers or non-hoppers performing hopper contracts.

Whether C.F. Bean, LLC, intends to develop more ventures with Stuyvesant Dredging
Company or Stuyvesant with other entities is irrdlevant; and no evidence has been placed into
the record as to its intentions. See supra note 18. The court, however, cannot construe the

Intervenor's  affiant, Robert Dugas, an accountant, states that in 1992 Stuyvesant
Dredging Company did not have an interest in another entity that chartered dredging vessdls.
Language in the background document is to the same effect. The court has been cited no
authority that recognizes ether an dfidavit generated for litigation in 2003 or a background
document created for a hearing conducted in 2003 as legidative history for an act of 1992, or
evidence of Congresss agpprova of Customs interpretation by virtue of utilizing the same
language in new legidation.

The 2003 events on Capitol Hill concern another bill that may or may not be enacted.
The parties synopses of the hearing on April 30, 2003 (no verbatim transcript is available, and
the court declines plantiff's offer to view a videotape), depict a maelstrom. Locked in the
postions that they have been advocating for over a decade (plantiff's faction decrying the
exception as forbidding the creation of any new entities and intervenor's faction extolling its
U.S.-citizen ownership), the parties prove tha nether is satisfied with the statutory language,
as written. This contretemps does not mean, however, that the dtatute lacks a plain meaning.
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exception in a way that could enable the limitation to swalow the amendment. If defendant's
and intervenor's plan meaning were accepted, and it would not be plain, the result would be
that foregn entities could charter non-hoppers not yet documented for any dredging for the
next 30 years. The exception would disgppear because it would alow for unlimited expansion
by Stuyvesant Dredging Company into the non-hopper dredging business. “Strict adherence
to the language and dtructure of [an] Act is particularly appropriate where, as here, a statute is
the result of a series of carefully crafted compromises”  Community for Creative Non-
Videncev. Reid, 490 U.S. 730, 748 n.14 (1989).

5. Injunctiverdief

To obtan permanent injunctive rdief, plantff mus dso show: (1) that it will be
immediatdy and irreparably injured; (2) that the public interest would be better served by the
relief requested; and (3) that the balance of hardship on dl the parties favors the protestor. See
Zenith Radio Corp. v. United States, 710 F.2d 806, 809 (Fed. Cir. 1983); Amoco Prod. Co. v.
Village of Gambdl, 480 U.S. 531, 546 n.12 (1987) (standard for permanent injunction is
esentidly same as temporary injunctions, except actua success replaces need to show
likelihood of success on merits).

An action a lav only dlows recovery of “bid preparation costs in a st for damages,
but not loss of anticipated profits,” leaving a bid protestor irreparably harmed. Essex Electro
Eng'rs, Inc. v. United States, 3 Cl. Ct. 277, 287 (1983), aff’d, 757 F.2d 247 (Fed. Cir. 1985);
see a0 Keco Indus., Inc. v. United States, 203 Ct. Cl. 566, 575 n.5, 492 F.2d 1200, 1204 n.5
(1974) (acknowledging exisgtence of a damages remedy sometimes reason for denid of
inunctive relief in federal district court); M. Steinthd & Co., Inc. v. Seamans, 455 F.2d 1289,
1302 (D.C. Cir. 1970) (holding that avalability of damages, which do not include lost profits,
does not warrant autometic dismissa of injunction regardiess of strength of claim on merits).

Defendant cites precedent for the proposition that lost profits are speculative and
cannot conditute irreparable ham. In Superior Services, Inc. v. Daton 851 F. Supp. 381, 387
(SD. Ca 1994), the didrict court hdd that “plaintiffS best argument [for irreparable harm] is
that they likdy would not recover lost profits if it was determined the contract was
eroneoudy awarded.” Ultimady denying plantiff's injunction, the digrict court did not find
that lost profits were themsdves to be speculative; rather, it was speculative to assume that
plantffs would have been awarded the contract. 1d. (noting that plaintiff ranked second for
technical ablity, but seventh for cost); see dso OAO Corp. v. United States, 49 Fed. Cl. 478,
481 (2001) (finding dight evidence of irreparable harm, but denying injunction where
likdihood of success on the merits is dso minima); cf. United Int'l Invedigative Servs.. Inc.
v. United States, 42 Fed. Cl. 73, 75-76 (1998), aff'd, 194 F.3d 1335 (1999) (unpubl.) (denying
temporary injunction for plantiff when not deprived of opportunity to compete for award);
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Minor Metas, Inc. v. United States, 38 Fed. Cl. 379, 382 (1997) (court initialy granted
temporary injunction for plantiff, withdravn by agreement of parties, and denied subsequent
injunction because plaintiff was not precluded from taking part in bidding process).

Not only are these cases digtinguishable, but the propostion itsdf is suspect. If lost
profits do not conditute irreparable harm, then protesters who are seeking to displace a
putetive awardee automaticdly fal to meet one of the four requirements for injunctive relif.
The usud rule is that mere loss of money does not qudify as irreparable harm if the party can
be made whole through money damages when the clam, which does not itsedf seek an
injunction, is resolved on the merits. In those bid protests, involving contract awards — not
reolicitation or cancdlaion or another form of rdief — a protester is limited to recovery of
bid preparation costs if it fails to obtain injunctive relief. Loss of anticipated profits thus can
be remedied soldy by injunctive reief. The protester’s interests cannot be met with a suitable
monetary award in these circumstances unless a permanent injunction is granted.

Pantff has succeeded on the merits, edablishing that the Corps violated an applicable
procurement regulation by consdering intervenor as qudified. The public interest is served
by ensuring a procurement process conforms to applicable procurement regulations.  See
Essex Electro, 3 Cl. Ct. a 288. In comparing the hardships of an injunction, intervenor is not
harmed by aborting a flawed award process.

Although the Corps's interest in timdy performance of the contract is mitigated by
agreement of the parties, prior to this court's decigon, to terminate intervenor’s contract if
this court finds intervenor indigible, defendant points out that contract performance may be
disrupted if the contract must be awarded to a new contractor. Intervenor’s performance will
be funded via a continuing appropriation, but the pending request for appropriation must be
enacted before the Corps can award a new contract. Defendant asserts.

Norfolk is potentidly digble for award of the contract in the event that Bean
Suyvesant LLC is determined not to be digible and if funding is avalable in a
timdy manner. . . . Moreover, because an award to Norfolk would not be a
“continuing contract,” the Corps would be required to obligate the entire amount
of the contract upon award. The Corps will not have the funds to do this until
passage of its FY 2004 appropriations hill. Because the performance period for
this work is limited to November 1, 2003 to April 30, 2004, the project may be
in jeopardy if Bean Stuyvesant LLC is determined not to be digible and passage
of the FY 2004 appropriations bill is sgnificantly delayed.

Def.’s Counter-Statement of Facts, No. 31 filed Oct. 9, 2003. The court accepts this

diginction, dthough defendant did not argue in either of its briefs that a permanent injunction
would jeopardize contract performance. As the record stands, no legd argument has been
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made by any party on this subject. The court recognizes the possibility that the appropriation
may not pass in time, as wdl as the posshility that it could pass in a timdy manner. Defendant
has not shown that the public interest will not be served by preventing intervenor to continue
a this time, and plantiff has shown tha the public interest would be served by implementing
Congress s expressed intent in 1992 to “ grandfather existing foreign-owned fleets.”

Teking dl the facts into condderation, plantff has edtablished its entitlement to
injunctive relief.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, plaintiff’s crossmotion for summary judgment is granted, and
defendant’ s and intervenor’ s are denied. Accordingly:

1. Defendant, by and through the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, its officers, agents,
and employees, is permanently enjoined from proceeding with performance of the contract on
Solicitation No. DACW54-03-B-0011 with any entity other than Norfolk Dredging Co.,
provided that the Corps of Engineers finds Norfolk Dredging Co. to be a responsble
contractor.

2. Paagraph 10 of the Agreement Pertaining To Morehead City Harbor Dredging
Cont[rlact Solicitation DACW54-03-B-0011 dgned by dl paties and made Ex. A to the
Transcript of Proceedings in Norfolk Dredging Co., Inc. v. United States, No. 03-2225C (Fed.
Cl. Sept. 30, 2003), isfully incorporated in this order:

In the event the decison of the Court of Federd Claims is that Bean
Suyvesant is not digble for award of the contract, the Government will
terminate the contract awarded to Bean Stuyvesant under the terms of the clause
entitted “Termindtion for the Convenience of the Government,” and the
Government and Bean Stuyvesant agree that this would be a no-cost termination.

3. By December 5 2003, defendant shall file a Status Report reporting on the
termination of intervenor's contract and daing the datus of or result of any determination of

plantiff’ s responghility.

4. Counsd for defendant shal communicate by no later than 6:00 p.m. on October 14,
2003, the contents of this order to the contracting officals of the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers and shdl deliver to them a copy of this opinion and order as soon as practicable.

IT ISSO ORDERED.
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Christine Odell Cook Miller
Judge
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